STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JO PRADUBSRI,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000208

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred reversibly in refusing to reveal the identity of the confidential informant because the confidential informant acted beyond the scope of a mere tipster and, as the sole source of law enforcement information regarding Appellant, her identity was relevant and helpful to Appellant and essential to a fair determination of Appellant's case.

- II. The trial court erred reversibly in finding that reasonable suspicion existed to justify stopping Appellant's vehicle where Appellant had not violated any traffic laws and the stop was based only on information provided by the confidential informer, whose information on Appellant was uncorroborated.

- III. In violation of *State v. Daniels*, 401 S.C. 251, 258, 737 S.E.2d 473, 477 (2012), and in contravention of his own ruling, the trial judge erred reversibly by instructing the jury that reasonable doubt, "is doubt which makes an honest, sincere, conscientious juror in search of the truth to hesitate to act."

- IV. The trial court committed reversible error in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal on Appellant's indictment for possession with intent to distribute within the proximity of a school where the State failed to prove that Appellant knew, or was at a minimum willfully ignorant of the fact, that he was within one half mile of Irmo Elementary School.

- V. The trial court erred reversibly in ruling that: (A) former co-defendant, Melissa Martin's testimony alleging that a prior drug sale occurred immediately before the investigatory stop and alleging that Appellant manufactured crack cocaine in his residence, constituted

evidence of an element of trafficking; and (B) by refusing to rule whether the State had proved these alleged prior bad acts by clear and convincing evidence, and whether her testimony's probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 9, 2009, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Jo Pradubsri for: trafficking in crack cocaine (28-100 grams); possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine within the proximity of a school; and unlawful carrying of a pistol. R. 387.

On February 11, 2010, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo and a jury. R. 1. David M. Mauldin and Mathew C. Buchanan represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors David M. Stumbo and Michael D. Ross represented the State.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 347, ll. 17 - 348, ll. 6. The trial court sentenced Appellant to 30 years imprisonment for trafficking, fifteen years imprisonment for possession with intent to distribute within the proximity of a school, and one year imprisonment for unlawful possession of a gun.

In an opinion filed on May 1, 2013, the South Carolina Court of Appeals reversed Appellant's conviction and remanded for a new trial. *State v. Pradubsri*, 403 S.C. 270, 743 S.E.2d 98 (Ct. App. 2013). On appeal, Dayne C. Phillips represented Appellant and Assistant Attorney General William M. Blich represented the State.

On November 4-5, 2014, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. Because of a mistake in the indictments, Appellant's second trial ended in a mistrial. Appellant was represented by David M. Mauldin, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Lester M. Bell, Jr. and Casey N. Rankin.

On January 13, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman and a jury. R. 1 Dayne C. Phillips and David M. Mauldin again represented Appellant and Assistant Solicitors Lester M. Bell, Jr. and Casey N. Rankin represented the State.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 347, ll. 17 - 348, ll. 5. The trial court sentenced Appellant to concurrent terms of twenty-five years imprisonment for trafficking, fifteen years imprisonment for possession with intent to distribute within the proximity of a school, and one year imprisonment for unlawful possession of a gun. R. 356, ll. 1-6.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 9, 2008, Appellant and his girlfriend, Melissa Martin, were stopped while pulling out of the Kroger parking lot in Irmo, South Carolina, by Sgt. John Finch of the Lexington County Sheriff's Department. R. 136, ll. 18 - 137, ll. 24. The stop was the culmination of months of fruitless searching by Finch.

In the three months prior to the stop, Finch had been in communication with an informer, who had identified Appellant and Martin as drug dealers. R. 47, ll. 5 - 50, ll. 9. Finch said he had used the informer, a prostitute with past drug convictions, "informally" over the past six to eight years. R. 46, ll. 4-25; R. 55, ll. 4-23. ***Based solely on the informer's information***, Finch had issued multiple "be on the lookout" orders to his deputies and other county law enforcement agencies. R. 47, ll. 5 - 50, ll. 9 (*emphasis added*).

Despite being provided supposedly detailed information on the location, times of day, and method of sale; law enforcement had been unable to locate Appellant in the three months leading up to the stop. *Id.* Law enforcement never observed any drug sales and police surveillance of Appellant's residence did not yield any incriminating evidence. R. 62, ll. 22 - 64, ll. 24. At trial, Finch candidly admitted, Appellant had committed no traffic violations and the stop was only based on the information supplied by the prostitute informer. R. 66, ll. 2-18.

Once stopped, Finch averred that Appellant and Martin made "furtive" movements as he and a back-up officer, Deputy Kevin Blake, approached the vehicle. R. 69, ll. 7 - 74, ll. 24. Finch claimed, inconsistently, that either as he was walking up to the vehicle or, after he opened the driver's side door that he saw the handle of a pistol protruding from the gap between the driver's side seat and center console. *Id.*

Appellant and Martin were ordered out of the vehicle. *Id.* While the two were being searched, Martin became confrontational with Deputy Blake. R. 188, ll. 3-21. Blake contended that, as he was taking Martin out of the vehicle, he noticed a small bag in her hand and a second bag in the waist line of her pants. R. 179, ll. 16 - 181, ll. 11. Blake further observed an unusual bulge in the crotch of Martin's pants and requested that a female deputy search Martin. *Id.*

Martin, who has an extensive criminal record with convictions for prostitution, drug, and property crimes, had in her possession what was later determined to be sixty-seven and eighty-eight hundredths grams of crack cocaine. R. 193, ll. 16 - 198, ll. 23. Further, law enforcement discovered a pistol in Martin's purse. R. 182, ll. 1-6. Martin confessed that the crack cocaine belonged to her. R. 238, ll. 10-20.

Once incarcerated, Martin wrote a letter to then Assistant Solicitor David Stumbo offering to testify against Appellant. Martin pleaded, "I'm willing to do anything that needs to be done" in order receive a lighter sentence and to secure bond. R. 239, ll. 22 - 240, ll. 24; R. 263, ll. 6-10.

After reaching an understanding with the State, Martin repudiated her ownership of the drugs found on her person and would testify at trial that the drugs belonged to Appellant. R. 261, ll. 4 - 264, ll. 23. In exchange, the State consented to a reduced bond and even arranged for her to be represented by a former solicitor during the bond hearing, despite already being represented by a different attorney for her pending charges. R.265, ll. 2-23.

Once released, Martin failed to attend her next appearance and a bench warrant was issued. R. 266, ll. 11-25. Martin was eventually arrested in Richland County. R. 267, ll. 3-7. She again secured bond, this time by offering to have sex with the bail bondsman. *Id.* at ll. 8-22. Subsequently, Martin was arrested for a third time and was also caught smuggling crack cocaine into prison. R. 258, ll. 12 - 259, ll. 19.

Martin faced the same charges as Appellant with a mandatory minimum sentence of seven years imprisonment. R.268, ll. 6 - 269, ll. 19. Martin was allowed to plead guilty to simple possession of crack cocaine and unlawful possession of a gun. *Id.* She was sentenced to eighteen months imprisonment with no subsequent probation. *Id.*

Pre-Trial Motion: Reveal Informer's Identity

Defense counsel moved pre-trial to compel the State to reveal the identity of the informer arguing that the informer was more than a mere tipster and that her identity was highly relevant and helpful to the defense. R. 4, ll. 2 - 6, ll. 7. The defense identified a letter written by then Assistant Solicitor Stumbo acknowledging that the police had no formal agreement with the informer, and which noted that the informer had a long history of drug use and prostitution. *Id.*; *see also* R. 357.

Defense counsel argued that the letter's explicit denial of confidential informant status rendered the informant's privilege inapplicable. *Id.* Moreover, *Finch was completely reliant on her information when he initiated the investigatory traffic stop*, as such the informer was more than a mere tipster providing information for law enforcement to independently investigate. R. 6, ll. 25 - 12, ll. 3 (*emphasis added*). Finch conceded that law enforcement had *conducted no independent investigation into the informer's allegations*, no attempted controlled buys, and only conducted cursory surveillance of Petitioner's residence. R. 63, ll. 18 - 65, ll. 24.

The State countered that no formal agreement between the solicitor's office and the informer was required to invoke confidential informant privilege. R. 30, ll. 22 - 33, ll. 23. The State further claimed that the informer simply provided law enforcement with information and that she was not an active participant in any crimes. *Id.*

Curiously, given that the informant's significant involvement in Appellant's case, the State noted that they "couldn't run programs like Crime Stoppers" if the informer's identity was

disclosed. *Id.* The State then proffered testimony from Sgt. Finch in an effort to establish the informer's reliability.

Proffered Testimony of Sgt. John Finch

Finch averred that the informer had been used by law enforcement since 2006 and had never provided false or inaccurate information. R. 43, ll. 2 - 46, ll. 25. He alleged that the informer had helped police locate and arrest a series of persons from "Midland's Most Wanted" lists. *Id.* However, Finch was unable to identify those individuals by name or to recall the details of their charges. *Id.* Instead he simply concluded that: "[t]here's been a lot of cases of wanted individuals, especially more special like Midlands Most Wanted-type individuals." R. 44, ll. 16-25.

According to Finch, the informer seemed able to regularly provide police with the same type of information on many different individuals. For example, Finch recollected that the informer had provided information on persons residing at an Executive Inn:

"I've gotten several different people. In that case, let's see, those two different Midland's Most Wanted subjects based on intelligence received from the informant, very specific about the room, the dates and times they would be there, all of the identifiers, you know, everything just matched up perfectly in that case, and that was two at just the Executive Inn alone."

Id. The informer had also apparently provided almost identical information on two different "wanted subjects" residing at a Red Roof Inn and a Motel Six respectively. R. 45, ll. 1-8.

Likewise, the informer had previously told police about "an individual that was wanted for trafficking heroin." R. 43, ll. 2-17. On this occasion, she allegedly identified a co-defendant, the car being used, and the area and time that the targets sold drugs. *Id.* Oddly given that the informer provided police with the time and area of drug sales, Finch recalled that "I started working on that case. *Subsequently* we did locate the individuals." *Id.* (*emphasis added*).

The information the informer provided in Appellant's case followed the same basic pattern as her earlier information. Finch testified that for approximately three months prior to Appellant's traffic stop he had been in regular communication with the informer about Appellant's supposed whereabouts. R. 47, ll. 5 - 50, ll. 21. Finch alleged that the informer, whom he knew was a drug addict, had personally observed Appellant and Martin making crack cocaine in their residence. *Id.*

Finch claimed that he received between ten to twenty telephone calls from the informer. R. 42, ll. 17-22. She described Appellant's car; claimed that Appellant allegedly sold drugs in the Irmo-St. Andrews area of Columbia during nights and evenings; and – incredibly – the informer knew the make, model, and caliber of guns that Appellant and Martin carried. R. 55, ll. 2 - 90, ll. 23.

Finch admitted that he conducted almost no independent investigation to confirm this information and that he did not try corroborate any of the informant's information. R. 64, ll. 13-24. Instead, he claimed that he recognized Martin as someone he believed was involved in prostitution and that he accessed Appellant's criminal record. *Id.*

On cross-examination, Finch reluctantly agreed that the informer was likely involved in illegal activity, including prostitution and drug dealing. R. 54, ll. 23 - 59, ll. 23. Finch further conceded that the informer's telephone calls were the sole basis for his knowledge of Appellant's alleged drug dealing prior to the traffic stop. *Id.*

Crucially, Finch admitted that when law enforcement attempted to verify the accuracy of the informer's information on Appellant's whereabouts and activities; they were unable to corroborate the information. *Id.* Despite having supposedly accurate and detailed information from the informer; the police never observed Appellant make a single drug sale, made no effort to conduct a controlled buy, and only briefly surveilled Appellant's house - without observing anything that corroborated the informer's claims. R. 63, ll. 18 - 65, ll. 24

More alarmingly, Finch conceded that many of the informer's telephone calls over the three month period provided Appellant's current location and the direction in which he was traveling. R. 88, ll. 2 – 90, ll. 10. Finch blamed his inability to corroborate the information, not on the informer being unreliable, but on law enforcement having other commitments which made any independent investigation too onerous. *Id.*

After stressing that the informer had detailed personal knowledge of Appellant's alleged drug dealing; on cross-examination Finch became more reticent and skeptical of whether Appellant and the informer had a personal connection. A suddenly less certain Finch demurred, that "I don't know about how close of a personal relationship it was, but I'm saying that they knew each other on the street." R. 85, ll. 25 - 87, ll. 18.

When asked what benefits the informer had received from her long association with law enforcement, Finch adamantly denied that informer had received any benefits. He underlined the lack of motive conjecturing that the informer:

"[K]new that if she committed a crime that I would lock her up and then that's -- you know, she -- she gave me this information voluntarily and willfully. On the street she developed a level of trust with the folks out there and, you know, after a long period of time it was developed with this individual, you know, so she forwards the information to me and I look into it, and everything she's ever given me has been reliable.

Id. at ll. 5-12. When asked, he again conceded that never corroborated the informer's information; never attempted to set-up a controlled buy; never sought a search warrant for Appellant's residence; and the minimal surveillance conducted did not yield any corroborating evidence of trafficking. R. 63, ll. 22 - 64, ll. 24.

On redirect, Finch agreed with the State that the police - who had conducted almost no investigation into the informer's claims - had unsurprisingly not connected the informer to any illegal activity involving Appellant and Martin. R. 74, ll. 10 - 75, ll. 5. Finch also acceded to the

State's suggestion that simply because the informer supplied inaccurate or uncorroborated information on Appellant's location on ten to twenty separate occasions over a three month period did not mean that the informer was unreliable. *Id.*

Court's Ruling

The trial court ruled that the State was not required to reveal the identity of the informer. R.78, ll. 2 - 79, ll. 10. The court found that the informer was not an active participant in the crime and was not a material witness. *Id.* The court noted that "it's hard to put a label on who she was, but if I were to put a label on her[,] she would be a tipster as argued by the State." *Id.* The court further stated that the interests of law enforcement in receiving information outweighed any risk of Appellant being denied a fair trial. *Id.*

Pre-Trial Motion: Suppress Evidence Discovered During Traffic Stop

Next, Appellant moved to suppress the crack cocaine and guns seized during the traffic stop on the grounds that law enforcement did not have reasonable suspicion to justify the stop. R. 79, ll. 20 - 80, ll. 23; R. 369. Defense counsel stressed that because the police were completely reliant on the uncorroborated information provided by the informer, they lacked reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity. R. 84, ll. 5-15.

Citing to Sgt. Finch's testimony, counsel argued that the informer's reliability had not been established. R. 85, ll. 3-24. Moreover, the defense posited that the court's prior ruling deprived Appellant of the opportunity to confront the informer and adequately examine her reliability. R. 25, ll. 17-25. Appellant had not committed a traffic violation to justify the traffic stop and any post-stop confirmation of the accuracy of the informer's tip was irrelevant to the existence of reasonable suspicion at the time the stop was initiated. R. 85, ll. 3 - 87, ll. 4.

Without taking arguments from the State, the trial court denied Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence, ruling that law enforcement had reasonable suspicion based on the past reliability of the informer. R. 87, ll. 16-18.

Pre-Trial Motion: Exclude Prior Bad Act Evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE

Appellant then moved, pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, to prevent Martin from testifying about an alleged drug sale she conducted at the Irmo Kroger immediately before she and Appellant were stopped by Finch. R. 96, ll. 10 - 97, ll. 18. The defense anticipated Martin would claim that she made the sale at Appellant's insistence. *Id.* Martin was also expected to claim that Appellant manufactured crack cocaine at his residence. *Id.* Since Appellant was not charged with a crime relating to these acts, any testimony amounted to improper prior bad act evidence. *Id.*

The State countered that testimony on the prior sale of crack cocaine would be "narrowly" used to prove that Appellant had the intent to distribute with respect to the proximity charge. R. 97, ll. 15 - 98, ll. 25. The prior sale would also "show what [Appellant and Martin] were up to that night." R.98, ll. 2-3. Finally, the State suggested without further explanation that the alleged drug sale in Kroger was admissible because:

Martin lived with [Appellant] . . . she has intimate knowledge of the process of them purchasing and cooking the crack cocaine that they then took into the car to this Kroger to sell I think that due to her personal knowledge and the fact that it explains the presence of the drugs that night, it's something that should be introduced under [Rule] 404(b).

Id. at ll. 16-25.

The defense countered that the alleged sale constituted a prior bad act that was not the subject of the conviction; accordingly the State would have to prove the event by clear and convincing evidence. R. 99, ll. 1-14. The trial court preliminarily denied the motion, but advised that the ruling would be revisited before Martin testified. *Id.* at ll. 15-17.

Trial

After opening statements the State called a series of law enforcement witnesses, beginning with Sgt. Finch who testified about initiating the investigatory traffic stop. When prompted by the State, Finch also explained that he charged Appellant with possession within intent to distribute within the proximity of a school because the traffic stop occurred within a half mile of Irmo Elementary School. R. 155, ll. 24 - 156, ll. 7.

Deputy Blake, who assisted Finch during the traffic stop, testified that when Martin was ordered out of the car, she had small packages of crack cocaine in her hand, stuck in the waistband of her pants, and stuffed into the crotch of her pants. R. 180, ll. 2-24. Deputy Andrea Grimstead testified that she was called to the traffic stop to search Martin's pants. R. 190, ll. 1 - 192, ll. 23.

Proffer Testimony of Melissa Martin

Prior to Martin taking the witness stand, the defense renewed its motion under Rule 404(b) SCRE to exclude her testimony on the alleged prior drug sales and to exclude any testimony regarding how Appellant allegedly made crack cocaine. R. 199, ll. 21 - 201, ll. 9. Martin testified *in camera* that she had a long criminal record with at least eight convictions for offenses ranging from prostitution and drug use to auto theft. R. 203, ll. 5-17.

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