ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-000208
MAR 14 2016
SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent.

vs.

Jo Pradubsri,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

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

682 (Ct. App. 2006) (finding reasonable suspicion existed where specific information provided by a known informant who could be held accountable and whose reputation could be assessed). In J.L., the United States Supreme Court (USSC) noted the distinction between an anonymous tip and one from a known informant: “Unlike a tip from a known informant whose reputation can be assessed and who can be held responsible if her allegations turn out to be fabricated, an anonymous tip alone seldom demonstrates the informant’s basis of knowledge or veracity.” J.L., 529 U.S. at 270.

In Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325 (1990), the USSC determined reasonable suspicion existed to stop a vehicle after various facts were confirmed as true prior to stopping the vehicle. The tipster told the police that a woman would drive from a particular apartment building to a particular motel in a brown Plymouth station wagon with a broken right tail light. The tipster further asserted that the woman would be transporting cocaine. Id. at 327. After confirming the innocent details, officers stopped the station wagon as it neared the motel and found cocaine in the vehicle. Id., at 331. The USSC held corroboration of certain details made the anonymous tip sufficiently reliable to create reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. The USSC found “because an informant is shown to be right about some things, he is probably right about other facts that he has alleged, including the claim that the object of the tip is engaged in criminal activity.” Id.

Recently, in Navarette v. California, 134 S. Ct. 1683 (2014), the USSC determined a 911 call provided sufficient indicia of reliability for reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle for drunk driving. The Court found “[b]y reporting that she had been run off the road by a specific vehicle—a silver Ford F-150 pickup, license plate 8D94925—

the caller necessarily claimed eyewitness knowledge of the alleged dangerous driving. That basis of knowledge lends significant support to the tip's reliability." Id. at 1689. Additionally, details such as the vehicles location were corroborated by the police prior to the stop. Id. Further, the Court found the 911 system provided a means for identifying the informant and holding her accountable for any false information. Id. at 1689-1690.

In the instant case, the informant was an individual known to Sergeant Finch and the Lexington County Sheriff's Department. The informant provided significant information in the past which lead to multiple arrests. (T.74-77; R.43-46). Further, the informant gave specific details about the area of town in which Appellant dealt drugs; who he would be with; the vehicle they would be driving, including a dent on the vehicle; and the type of drugs and weapons they would have in their possession. (T.78-82; R.47-51). Significantly, Sergeant Finch corroborated the details of the car and the area of town it was located in prior to making the stop. (T.83; R.52). He also knew both Appellant and his co-defendant. (T.82; R. 51). Finally, because the informant was known to Sergeant Finch, the informant could be held accountable for any false information provided. (T.77; R. 46).

Accordingly, this case is similar to the cases of White, Navarette, and Rogers and this Court should find Sergeant Finch's stop of Appellant's vehicle was properly made and supported by reasonable suspicion.

III. The trial court's instruction, when viewed as a whole, did not unconstitutionally shift the burden nor is there a reasonable probability the jury applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the constitution.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in giving a reasonable doubt instruction which included a definition of reasonable doubt that included it "is doubt which makes an honest, sincere, conscientious juror in search of the truth to hesitate to act." He contends using the language "search for the truth" is error and is an incorrect explanation of the burden of proof of reasonable doubt. The court's instructions when read as a whole properly charged the jury on the State's burden of proof and would not have confused the jury or caused its verdict to be rendered on an incorrect standard.

"An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)). A trial court is required to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 119, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006); Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 73 (2004). A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole. See Rayfield, 369 S.C. at 119, 631 S.E.2d at 251; Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 473; State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 231, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006). "A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." Mattison, 388 S.C. at 478, 697 S.E.2d at 583 (citations omitted).

Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989). On review of a

jury charge, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole in view of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Lee Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 406, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007).

Regarding a jury charge on reasonable doubt, “[t]he beyond a reasonable doubt standard is a requirement of due process, but the Constitution neither prohibits trial courts from defining reasonable doubt nor requires them to do so as a matter of course.” Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 5 (1994). In a criminal case, a trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the necessity that the defendant’s guilt be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, and no specific language or wording is required to be used to advise the jury of that burden of proof. Id. In order to meet the requirements of the Constitution, jury instructions as a whole must only correctly convey to the jury the concept of reasonable doubt. Id.

Significantly, the South Carolina Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized trial judges are not required to specifically define reasonable doubt when instructing the jury in criminal cases. See State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 126, 470 S.E.2d 366, 373 (1996) (finding no error in the trial judge’s refusal to define reasonable doubt during the jury instructions). “Jury instructions on reasonable doubt which charge the jury to ‘seek the truth’ are disfavored because they ‘[run] the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to a defendant.’” State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000) (quoting State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 155, 508 S.E.2d 857, 867-68 (1998)). “The standard for review of an ambiguous jury instruction is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the

Constitution.” Id. (citing Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991)).

Appellant objects to three statements by the trial court. In the instant case, the trial court charged the jury regarding its role as fact finder and stated: “As jurors then, it is your duty to determine the effect, the value, weight, and truth of the evidence presented during this trial.” (T.413; R. 325). Further, in continuing to define the jury’s role as fact finder and in judging credibility, the court stated: “It becomes your duty as jurors to evaluate the evidence and determine that evidence which convinces you of its truth.” (T.414; R. 326).¹ Finally, in defining reasonable doubt, the court stated in part: “A reasonable doubt is doubt which makes an honest, sincere, conscientious juror in search of the truth to hesitate to act.” (T.418; R. 330). None of these charges, however, alter the burden of proof, shift the burden of proof to Appellant, or create a reasonable likelihood the jury applied the challenged instructions in a way that violates the Constitution.

None of these charges used the “seek the truth” language which was found to be disfavored by the Court in Needs. Instead, they merely indicated the jury’s role and the type of jurors involved in the trial. The first two charges objected to by Appellant are not in the reasonable doubt or circumstantial evidence charges where other courts have had trouble. In the instant case, the charges are similar to those in Aleksey in which the South Carolina Supreme Court found: “There is not a reasonable likelihood the jury applied the challenged instruction in a manner inconsistent with the burden of proof

¹ Any objection to the first two statements raised by Appellant in his brief are not preserved as the only objection raised at trial was to the reasonable doubt charge given by the court. (T.427; R. 339). See State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (“For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.”); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

beyond a reasonable doubt.” Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 28-29, 538 S.E.2d at 252 (2000).² The jurors were not told to make their decision based on a quest for the truth, but were clearly instructed their decision would be based on whether the State met its burden beyond a reasonable doubt.

Additionally, the objected to statements found in the reasonable doubt charge was not error, especially when considering the instructions as a whole. In State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386; 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994), the South Carolina Supreme Court considered a remarkably similar charge to the one given in this case. In that case the judge charged: “so the State must satisfy you, what, beyond a reasonable doubt, a doubt for you, as a conscientious juror, in seeking the truth, will stop and hesitate, and consider the guilt or innocence of a particular person.” Id. at 395, 440 S.E.2d at 874. Counsel in Hoffman argued the language violated his due process rights. The Court found the language was similar to the “hesitate to act” language approved by the Court and when read as a whole did not place the burden on the defendant.

The reasonable doubt charge in the instant case did not shift the burden to Appellant, especially when the charge is considered as a whole. Throughout his jury instructions, the trial court reminded the jury that the State had the burden of proof and had to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (T.414; 415; 416; 417; 418; 419; 420; 421; 422; R. 326; 327; 328; 329; 330; 331; 332; 333; 334). Before trial began the court explained to the jury that Appellant “cannot be found guilty unless **the State presents evidence which convinces a jury of his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.**” (T.6; R. 3)

² In footnote 2 to the opinion, the Supreme Court in Aleksey also noted many consistent opinions finding truth language not error and not causing burden shifting when it appears in the portion of the charge related to the jury’s role or their determination of credibility.

(emphasis added). Additionally, his charge on reasonable doubt was a complete and correct statement of the law. He charged:

The Defendant has pled not guilty to the charges alleged against him. **The burden is on the State to prove the Defendant guilty. A person charged with committing a criminal offense in South Carolina is never required to prove himself innocent.** I charge you that it is an important rule of the law that the defendant in a criminal trial, no matter the seriousness of the charges, will always be presumed to be innocent of the crime for which the indictment was issued unless guilt has been proven by evidence satisfying you of that guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

This presumption of innocence does not end when you begin your deliberations, but it accompanies the Defendant throughout the trial until you reach a verdict of guilt based on evidence satisfying you of that guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. **The presumption of innocence is like a robe of righteousness placed about the shoulders of the Defendant which remains with the Defendant until it has been stripped from the Defendant by evidence satisfying you of the Defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.** The presumption of innocence is not a mere legal theory, it's not just a legal phrase. **It is a substantial right to which every defendant is entitled unless you, the jury, is satisfied from the evidence of the guilt of the Defendant beyond a reasonable doubt.**

The State must prove the Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. What is a reasonable doubt in the law? A reasonable doubt is doubt which makes an honest, sincere, conscientious juror in search of the truth to hesitate to act. **Proof beyond a reasonable doubt must, therefore, be proof of such a convincing character that a reasonable person would not hesitate to rely and act upon it in the most important of his or her own affairs. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt can also be described as proof that leaves you firmly convinced of the Defendant's guilt.** Now there are they few things in this world that we know with absolute certainty. In a criminal case, the law does not require proof that overcomes every possible doubt. If based on your consideration of the evidence you are firmly convinced that the Defendant is guilty, then you must find him guilty. If, on the other hand,

you think there is a real possibility that he is not guilty, you must give him the benefit of the doubt then and find him not guilty.

(T.417-418; R. 329-330) The jury charge, when read as a whole, did not create a reasonable likelihood the jury applied the instruction in an unconstitutional manner. Nothing in this charge shifted the burden to Appellant, and instead the court's charge, when read as a whole, made it perfectly clear the burden of proof was on the State beyond a reasonable doubt. As in Hoffman and Aleksey this Court should find the charges as given were proper statements of the law and did not create a reasonable likelihood the jurors applied the instructions in an unconstitutional manner.

IV. The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict where there is evidence supporting the conclusion Appellant had or should have had knowledge he was within one half mile of Irmo Elementary School.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict on the possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine within the proximity of a school. First, the issue as raised is not preserved for review on appeal. Appellant never contested the State's evidence he had knowledge he was within proximity of the school. Further, the State presented ample evidence of every element required for conviction of the proximity charge.

Preservation

Initially, the issue as raised in Appellant's brief is blatantly not preserved for review on appeal. Appellant made his motion for a directed verdict related to the trafficking charge and it is highly questionable whether he even moved for a directed verdict as to the proximity charge. Even if the directed verdict motion covered the proximity charge, he never raised any issue related to his knowledge of being in the proximity of a school.

Appellant's directed verdict motion stated: "under In Re: Winship, the State has to prove every element of the offense and part of our directed verdict motion would be the State hasn't provided evidence to the element of Mr. Pradubsri's **knowledge as to the possession of the drugs or his intent to distribute.**" (T.367; R. 284) (emphasis added).³ His general statement that the State must prove every element is not sufficient to raise an

³ It is noteworthy that Appellant does not contest on appeal the sufficiency of the State's evidence establishing either his knowledge of the drugs or his intent to distribute the drugs.

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